HOW TO MEMORIZE HADITH



A CONCISE GUIDE ON HOW TO MEMORIZE HADITH FROM CLASSICAL AND CONTEMPORARY SCHOLARS ACCOMPANIED WITH PERSONAL EXPERIENCES

COMPILED BY

ABU AWZAA'EE ABDUS-SALAAM

UMM AL-QURAA UNIVERSITY, MAKKAH

FOREWORDS BY

SHAYKH ABU MUHAMMAD ABDUR-RA'UF SHAKIR SHAYKH ABU ISHAQ NABEEL NISAR SHEIKH

How To Memorize Hadith

A Concise Guide on How to Memorize Hadith From Classical and Contemporary Scholars Accompanied With Personal Experiences

Compiled by

Abu Awzaa'ee Abdus-Salaam al-Makki al-Hanbali عفا الله عنه Umm al-Qurā University, College of Sharī'ah, Makkah al-Mukarramah

Forewords by
Shaykh Abu Muhammad Abdur-Ra'uf Shakir غفر الله له
Shaykh Abu Ishāq Nabeel Nisar Sheikh as-Sindī غفر الله له

How To Memorize Hadith
Copyright © 1442h (2021) Abu Awzaa'ee Abdus-Salaam
First Edition 1442h (2021)
All rights reserved.
Comments and corrections can be emailed to:
KeysToKnowledgeNYC@gmail.com
Website: www.K2KNYC.com

The Prophet said:

إِنَّمَا الْأَعْمَالُ بِالنِّيَّاتِ، وَإِنَّمَا لِكُلِّ امْرِئٍ مَا نَوَى، فَمَنْ كَانَتْ هِجْرَتُهُ إِلَى اللَّهِ وَرَسُولِهِ فَهِجْرَتُهُ إِلَى اللَّهِ وَرَسُولِهِ، وَمَنْ كَانَتْ هِجْرَتُهُ لِدُنْيَا يُصِيبُهَا أَوِ امْرَأَةٍ يَنْكِحُهَا، فَهِجْرَتُهُ إِلَى مَا هَاجَرَ إِلَيْهِ.

"Verily, deeds are only with intentions and every person will have only what they intended. Whoever emigrated to Allah and His Messenger, his emigration is for Allah and His Messenger. Whoever emigrated to get something in the world or to marry a woman, his emigration is for that to which he emigrated."

(Bukhari & Muslim)

Table of Contents

Forewords

Shaykh Abu Muhammad Abdur-Ra'uf Shakir	5
Shaykh Abu Ishāq Nabeel Nisar Sheikh as-Sindī	7
Introduction	8
The Virtue of Learning Hadith and Its Companions	11
Tips on Memorizing Hadith from the Salaf	16
Recommended Foods to Consume That Assists in Memorization	20
Studying at Night and Reciting Audibly	22
Repeating From The Heart	24
Revising Hadith With The General Folk	25
Revising Hadith With Your Peers	27
10 Personal Advices on Memorizing Hadith	29
Recommended Supplications For Beneficial Knowledge	41
Poem: "Directing the Student of Hadith on How to Have its Gates Opened".	43

Forewords

In the Name of Allāh, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful. May the praise of Allāh, in the highest of assemblies, and His peace, safety and security, both in this world and the next, be on Muhammad (صَلَّى اللهُ عَــلَيْهِ وَسَلَّم), the best of mankind and the seal of the Prophets and Messengers.

The prophetic sayings, as well as the sayings of the earlier and latter scholars contained in this small manual 'How To Memorize Hadith' represent a good selection of some of the most important advices necessary for a Muslim who has a sincere intent to memorize the Hadith of the Messenger of Allāh, (صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَسَلَّم).

The first chapter, 'The Virtue of Learning Hadith and Its Companions' is replete with sayings of our beloved Prophet (صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَسَلَّم) which inspire and motivate a Muslim to study and memorize Hadith, as a means to becoming a 'companion' of Hadith.

The four (4) 'Tips on Memorizing Hadith from the Salaf' are essential for any Muslim who hopes to travel the path of seeking knowledge, in general, and especially a 'companion' of Hadith.

Every one of the '10 Personal Advices on Memorizing Hadith' - in my personal view - is an extremely valuable piece of advice and a practical step along the road to success in seeking knowledge, especially the first and the last of these 10 advices.

Finally, the poem of the late noble scholar, Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Adam al-Ityubi (حصمه الله) entitled: 'Directing the Student of Hadith on How to Have its Gates Opened' is a treasure beyond measure.

It is expected that if we act upon these advices, exert ourselves in the memorization process, ask Allāh's Help, and do all of this sincerely for the pleasure of Allāh, we have a right to hope to achieve a great success.

Indeed, success is from Allāh, Alone, and we hope that He will grant success to this work and make it a benefit to all those who read it and reward all those who have had anything to do with its realization.

Indeed! He, the Mighty and the Majestic, is Generous and Able to do all things!

Written by,

Abu Muhammad Abdur-Ra'uf Shakir

23rd Dhul-Qadah, 1442 AH / 3rd July 2021 CE

How To Memorize Hadith

- 7 -

بسم الله الرحمن الرحيم

الحمد لله وحده، والسلام على من لا نبى بعده، أما بعد:

It goes without saying, that memorization is a part of seeking knowledge. Understanding and comprehension alone is not enough to master any field of knowledge. It has to be coupled with memorization of its axioms, formulae, laws, principles, etc. This is all the more true for the knowledge of Islam, as it is based on divine texts, which act as its

formulae and laws, and the words of which cannot be tempered with.

There are many articles and treatises out there on how to seek knowledge, but rarely will you find anything on this important aspect of seeking knowledge: memorization – the

whys, the whens, and the hows of it.

Before you is a beneficial treatise written by our dear brother, Abu Awzaa'ee Abdus-Salaam al-Makki, on this very topic, with the focus on the memorization of Hadith.

May Allah bless him for compiling it, and may Allah make it a source of benefit for seekers of Islamic knowledge the world over. Amen

Written by,

Nabeel Nisar Sheikh,

Makkah, 3rd Dhil Hijjah, 1442

Introduction

I seek assistance in every name of Allah, the Possessor of limitless mercy, the Bestower of mercy. All praise is due to Allah. We praise him, we seek His help, we seek His forgiveness, and we seek refuge in Allah from the evil within ourselves and our evil deeds. Whoever Allah guides, there is none to misguide him. Whoever Allah leads astray, there is none to guide him. I testify there is nothing worthy of worship but Allah alone, without any partners, and that Muhammad is His servant and His messenger. Allah Almighty said,

"O you who have faith, fear Allah as it is His right to be feared and do not die unless you are Muslims" (3:102)

"Fear Allah, from whom you ask each other, and in your family ties, for Allah is ever watchful over you." (4:1)

"Fear Allah and speak words as befitting. He will amend your deeds for you and forgive your sins. Whoever obeys Allah and His messenger has achieved a great triumph." (33:70-71)

The truest word is the Book of Allah and the best guidance is the guidance of Muhammad. The evilest matters are those that are newly invented, for every newly invented matter is an innovation. Every innovation is misguidance, and every misguidance is in the Hellfire. To begin:

When I started my journey in acquiring Islamic knowledge, I always had a burning desire to learn Hadith and its sciences. During those early moments, I often searched for beneficial English resources on how to memorize Hadith but to no avail. Now that Allah has

permitted me to conduct a Hadith Program (<u>T.me/K2K40Hadith</u>) based on memorizing and understanding the following Hadith texts: 40 Hadith Nawawi, Umdatul Ahkām, Bulūgh al-Marām, and Riyādh as-Sālihīn — may Allah place His infinite blessings in this effort and accept from us all — I saw it as an opportune time to finally create a "How to Memorize Hadith" manual in English.

In this summarized manual I have:

- 1. Relayed narrations related to the virtue of learning Hadith and its Companions. I selected reports I believe every student of Hadith should memorize. The reader should know that all of the statements in this section have been authenticated by at least one reputable Hadith scholar from the past and/or the present.
- 2. Gathered and translated what the ancient Hadith Masters have compiled related to memorizing Hadith. I intentionally omitted the biographies of these great scholars as the intent is to benefit from their words of wisdom and experiences. I believe too much information may distract the beginner student from the purpose of this compilation.
- 3. Included poetry and advices from my scholars and teachers غفر الله لهم
- 4. Added my own personal experiences and advices related to this topic.
- 5. Ended this manual with Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi's رحسمهم الله short poem entitled: "Directing the Student of Hadith on How to Have its Gates Opened إرشاد and translated by Shaykh Aboo Shaybah Riyād وفقه الله علم الحديث إلى طريق فتح بابه.

I pray the dear reader - may Allah have mercy on us all - will find this work as a sufficient provision and nourishment while on their journey in learning Hadith of our beloved Messenger .

I would like to thank both Shaykh Abu Muhammad Abdur-Ra'uf Shakir and Shaykh Abu Ishāq Nabeel Nisar Sheikh as-Sindī جزاهما الله خيرا ووفقهما الله for taking their valuable time to review this work and offering their indispensable suggestions. May Allah accept on their

behalf and grant them and their families the loftiest Abode in Paradise without reckoning nor punishment. Āmīn.

I ask Allah by all of His Beautiful Names and Perfect Attributes to make this effort sincere for His sake alone, to accept this on my behalf, and to bless everyone who reads, listens, and benefits from it. Āmīn, Yā Rabbāl 'Ālamīn.

"I only intend reform to the best of my ability. My success comes only through Allah. In Him I trust and to Him I turn." (11:88)

Written by the poor servant in need of his Lord's mercy, pardon, and forgiveness,
Abu Awzaa'ee Abdus-Salaam al-Amreeki al-Makki al-Hanbali وفقه الله.

Umm al-Qurā University, College of Sharī'ah, Makkah al-Mukarramah حرسها الله

13th of Dhul Qa'dah, 1442 corresponding to (6/23/21 C.E.)

The Virtue of Learning Hadith and Its Companions

Allah Almighty said:

"...bring me a scripture 'revealed' before this 'Quran' or remnants of past knowledge..." (46:4)

Matar (al-Warrāq) said about, "or remnants of past knowledge" that it means,

"(It is) the chains of Hadith (narrations)".1

Yazīd b. Hārūn رحصه الله said, "I said to Hammād b. Zayd رحصه الله, 'O Abā Ismā'īl, did Allah mention the Companions of Hadith in the Quran?' He responded, 'Of course, have you not heard His statement,

"rHowever," it is not necessary for the believers to go forth (to seek knowledge) all at once. Only a party from each group should march forth (to seek knowledge), so that they may enlighten their people (with the knowledge they have learned) when they return to them, so that they rtoo may beware of evil." (9:122)

(Hammād then commented:)

¹ "al-Madkhal": (1) by al-Hākim and "al-Muhaddith al-Fāsil المحدث الفاصل": (96) by ar-Rāmahurmazi رحمهما الله with a "Hasan" chain.

² Ibn al-Jawzi رحصه الله said the scholars of Tafsir differed over this verse's interpretation. Is the statement, "Only a party from each group should march forth…" a command for a group of Muslims to march forth on an expedition? Or is it a command for a group of Muslims to travel and learn from the Prophet then return to their people and teach them? (Refer to: Ibn al-Jawzi's commentary on this verse in "Zād al-Masīr زاد السمسير "Zād al-Masīr"). Although both interpretations are acceptable, however I selected the second opinion to reflect in the translation as it is most suitable for this context. Allah knows best.

'This is relevant to every person who travels to seek knowledge and Fiqh (understanding), then returns with that knowledge teaching it to his people."³

The Prophet said,

"Convey from me, even a single verse." (Bukhari)

The Prophet said,

"So it is incumbent upon those who are present to convey it (this information) to those who are absent, because the informed one might comprehend (what I have said) better than those present." (Bukhari)

Abu Hātim ar-Rāzi رحمه الله said,

"Circulating knowledge is giving life to it, and conveying from the Messenger of Allah is a mercy which every believer holds dear to."4

The Prophet said,

^{3 &}quot;ar-Rihlah Fi Talab al-Hadith ": (الرحلة في طلب الحديث: (10) by al-Khatīb al-Baghdādī رحمه الله.

^{4 &}quot;Sharaf Ashāb al-Hadith شرف أصحاب الحديث: (18), by al-Khatīb al-Baghdādī برحمه الله.

"May Allah brighten the face⁵ of a person who hears a tradition from us and he memorizes it until he can convey it to others. Perhaps he will convey it to one who understands better than him, and perhaps one who conveys knowledge does not fully understand it himself." (Abu Dawud)

The Prophet said,

"People will come to you seeking knowledge. When you see them say to them, 'Welcome, welcome,' in obedience to the injunctions of the Messenger of Allah and instruct them in knowledge." (One of the narrators said) "I said to Al-Hakam: 'What is ''He said: 'Instruct them." (Ibn Mājah)6

The Prophet said,

"The Ummah will split into seventy-odd sects; all of whom are in the Fire except one."

رحمه لله said,

⁵ There are two possible meanings of this phrase نَـضُّرَ اللهُ ar-Rāmahurmazī رحمه الله stated in "al-Muhaddith al-Fāsil": (9) that it could take the meaning of:

^{1.} May Allah beautify and adorn جمله الله وزينه, or

^{2.} May Allah lead him to Paradise's radiance أوصله الله إلى نضرة الجنة.

There is no contradiction between the two interpretations and both meanings are applicable.

⁶ Scholars differed over the authenticity of this Hadith and its various routes. Imam Ahmad رحــــه الله did not consider this Hadith authentic due to a hidden defect in one of the chains. Refer to: ١٤٠: الــعلل ومـعرفــة الــرجــال. While al-Hākim (۲۹۸ (المستدرك:) judged one route of the Hadith with the following wording as authentic:

مرحبا بوصية رسول الله على كان رسول الله على يوصينا بكم

Both adh-Dhahabi (تلخيص الذهبي and al-Albāni (۲۸۰ :سلسلة الأحاديث الصحيحة) came to the same conclusion. May Allah have mercy on them all and certainly Allah knows best.

"If they are not the Companions of Hadith, then I do not know who."

al-Qādhi 'Iyādh حصه الله said, "Ahmad intended by his statement, 'the Companions of Hadith' (that they are) Ahl-Sunnah wal-Jamā'ah and those who have the belief of Ahl-Hadith's methodology."8

The Prophet said,

"There will always remain a group of my nation who will remain upon the truth."

Abu Hātim رحمه الله said, "I heard Ahmad b. Sinān رحمه الله say (after mentioning this Hadith):

'They are the People of Knowledge and the Possessors of Narrations."9

The Prophet said,

"A group among my nation will continue to be supported, unharmed by those who fail them until the establishment of the Hour." (Tirmidhi, Ahmad)¹⁰

Muhammad b. Ismā'īl al-Bukhāri رحمه الله said, "Āli b. al-Madīnī رحمه الله said, 'They are the Companions of Hadith'."

The Prophet said,

⁷ al-Hāfidh ibn Hajr رحمه الله said in "Fath al-Bārī: (13/293): "The route is authentic."

^{8 &}quot;Ikmāl al-Mu'lim إكمال المعلم": (6/305).

⁹ Collected by al-Asbahāni رالمحجة: ۱/۳۲) with an authentic chain (۲٤٦/١).

رحمه الله graded this Hadith (2192) as: "Hasan Sahih" and al-Albānī رحمه الله graded it "Sahih" (الأحاديث الصحيحة: ٤٠٣).

يَحْمِلُ هَذَا الْعِلْمَ مِنْ كُلِّ خَلَفٍ عُدُولُهُ يَنْفُونَ عَنْهُ تَحْرِيفَ الْغَالِينَ وَانْتِحَالَ الْمُبْطِلِينَ وَتَأُويلَ الْجَاهِلِينَ

"This knowledge will be carried by the trustworthy ones of every generation. They will expel from it the alterations made by those going beyond bounds, the false claims of the liars and the false interpretations of the ignorant."

The Prophet said,

"The closest of people to me on the Day of Resurrection are those who sent the most blessings upon me." (Tirmidhi)12

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله said, "Abu Nu'aym رحمه الله said to us, 'This noble merit is reserved for the narrators and transmitters of narrations, because there is no group of people among the scholars who are known to send Salah to the Messenger of Allah همته المعاددة المعاد

The Prophet said,

"You will hear (hadith from me) and it will be heard from you, and then it will be heard from those who heard from you." (Ahmad, Abu Dawud)¹⁴

¹¹ Authenticated by Imam Ahmad in "Tārīkh Dimashq": (7/39) by ibn 'Asākir and al-Albānī in "al-Miskhāh": (248) رحمهم الله.

¹² Tirmidhi رحمه الله said the Hadith is "Hasan" in his "al-Jāmi": (484). al-Albāni رحمه الله originally graded this Hadith to be weak, but after researched, he changed his grading to "Hasan" due to other narrations. Refer to: "Sahih at-Targhīb صحيح الترغيب": (1668) and "Sahīh al-Mawārid": (2327).

^{13 &}quot;Sharaf Ashāb al-Hadith": (59).

Tips on Memorizing Hadith from the Salaf

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحصه الله wrote in his book, "al-Jāmi li-Ahkām ar-Rāwī wa Ādāb as-Sāmi' الجامع لأحكام الراوي وآداب السامع": (1771-1783),

1. It is essential for the intention of the student in memorizing (knowledge) to be: (A.) desiring Allah's Face the Almighty, and (B.) offering Nasīhah (pure sincere advice) towards the Muslims when presenting and clarifying the (Sunnah).

الله عنهما said: رضى الله عنهما

"Certainly a person will only memorize based on the extent of his intentions."

'Ali b. al-Madīnī رحمه الله said: As I bade farewell to Sufyān رحمه الله, he said:

"You will be unequivocally tested in this affair (of knowledge), and the people will be in definite need of you, so observe Taqwa of Allah and correct your intentions."

Ibrahim b. Yahya b. Sa'īd رحمه الله narrated that after the death of Abu Āsim an-Nabīl رحمه الله, he saw (Abu Āsim) in his dream and asked, "What did Allah do with you"?

(Abu Āsim) responded, "(Allah) forgave me." He then asked, "How are my narrations with you all?" I responded, "Whenever we say 'Abu Āsim (narrated to us...)' there is no one who rejects it (alleging it as a weak chain)."

(Abu Āsim) remained quite. He then came to me and said,

"People are given (amounts of knowledge) based off of their intentions."

2. It is paramount for the student to steer clear of committing sins and falling into prohibited affairs¹⁵.

Yahya b. Yahya رحمه الله said: "A man asked (Imam) Mālik b. Anas رحمه الله 'O Abā Abdillah, is there anything that is suitable for memorization?' (Imam Mālik) responded,

"If there was anything, then it would be abandoning sins."

Bishr b. al-Hārith رحمه الله said,

"If you desire to teach knowledge, then do not disobey (Allah)."

'Alī b. Khashram رحمه الله said, "I asked Wakī' رحمه الله: 'O Abā Sufyān, do you know anything (to assist with) memorizing?' He said,

"Abandoning sins assists in memorization."

Abu Tālib Yahya b. 'Alī رحمه الله recited,

"I complained to Wakee' about my poor memory, So he directed me to abandon sins.

He said: 'Memorizing is a bounty (of Allah), and Allah's bounty is not acquired by the disobedient."

وَاتَّقُوا ْ اللهَّ وَيُعَلِّمُكُمُ اللهّ

¹⁵ Allah Almighty said in His Book,

Ibn Mas'ūd رضي الله عنه said,

"I certainly believe that a person forgets knowledge as a result of a sin he commits."

3. (The student must) occupy himself with adherence to the commandments of the Hadith and its implementation.

Wakee' رحمه الله said: "Ismā'īl b. Ibrāhīm رحمه الله used to say,

'We would seek assistance in memorizing Hadith through its implementation."

al-Hasan b. Sālih رحمه الله said,

"We would seek assistance in seeking Hadith through fasting."

4. (The student must) purify his earnings, set right his nutrition, and lessen his (intake of) food.

Abu Abdur-Rahmān al-'Umary رحمه الله said,

"When the servant is devout/Allah-fearing, he will abandon what causes him to doubt for that which does not make him doubt."

A man said to 'Isa b. Maryam عليه السلام. "O Ruh of Allah, advise me." He said,

"Look at your bread; where is it from (meaning, did it come through permissible means or not)?"

. Al-'Asma'ī رحمه الله said: "A bedouin admonished his brother saying,

'O my brother, take from the worldly life that which will suffice you, desert that which will oppress you, and beware gluttony/being satiated for certainly it blinds the intellect."

.إن شياء الله Recommended Foods to Consume That Assists in Memorization

The general principle related to consuming food and drink is found in the Quran and the Sunnah; Allah said:

"Eat and drink, but do not waste/be excessive. Surely He does not like the wasteful/
those who commit excess." (7:31)

The Prophet 🐉 stated:

"The son of Adam cannot fill a vessel worse than his stomach, as it is enough for him to take a few bites to straighten his back. If he must, then he may fill a third of it with food, a third of it with drink, and a third of it (empty for) his breath." (Tirmidhi)

The Salaf, based off of their experiences, noticed there were certain types of foods that assisted them in memorizing Hadith which they then advised their students to consume. al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله mentioned a few in his book: "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwi الجامع (1786-1797):

az-Zuhri رحمه الله said: "Consume honey for it is good for memorizing."

He also said: "Whoever is delighted with memorizing Hadith, then let him eat raisins."

Alī رضىي الله عنه said: "Consume sweet pomegranates as it certainly cleanses the stomach."

Abdullah b. Ja'far رضي الله عنه said: "A man came to Āli b. Abi Tālib رخصي الله and complained to him about forgetfulness, so he said: 'Consume cow's milk as it enlivens the heart and removes poor memory.""

There may be other foods - that have been proved through trial and error - which are confirmed to assist in improving the memory¹⁶. Ultimately, we should realize that Allah is the only reason for our success and that these means will not work unless He Wills. Our complete reliance should be in Allah alone.

 $^{^{16}}$ For example: green, leafy vegetables, fatty fish due to their omega-3 fatty acids, berries, tea and coffee, and walnuts, etc., and Allah knows best.

Studying at Night and Reciting Audibly

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله related the following narrations¹⁷:

Abu Hurayrah رضيي الله عنه said,

"I portion my nights into three: I pray for a third, I sleep for a third, and a third for when I review the Hadith of Allah's Messenger ..."

al-Mundhir said to an-Nu'mān (his son) رحمهما الله: "O my dear child, I love for you to look at the etiquette of night, as the heart during the day is busied, but at night it is tranquil. Every time you fill your vessel (i.e., fill your heart) with knowledge at night, it remains therein."

The Salaf favored studying at night due to the heart being free of thoughts; an unoccupied heart hastens memorization.

Ibrāhim b. Abdur-Rahmān رحصه الله said, "It was said to Hammād b. Zayd دحصه الله 'What is the greatest assistance in memorizing?' He replied: قِلَّةُ الْغُمِّ 'Less stress'."

Less stress cannot occur except through isolation and emptying the heart; the night is the best time for that.

Ahmad b. Wādih رحمه الله said, "I heard Abu Mas'ūd Ahmad b. al-Farrāt رحمه الله say: 'We still hear our scholars mentioning tips about memorizing. They all agreed that there is nothing more impactful than constant gazing (at the text) and memorizing mostly during the night over the day."

And he said: "I heard Ismā'īl b. Abi Ways رحصه الله saying, 'If you intend to memorize something then: sleep, wake up in the early morning (before Fajr), light a lamp, look at the text (i.e. commence your memorization), and you won't forget - if Allah wills."

_

¹⁷ "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwi":(1798-1804).

It is desirable for one who reads his book (with the intent of memorizing) to read audibly to the extent that he hears himself.

az-Zubayr al-Bakkār رحصه الله said, "My father entered while I was reading from my book silently to myself, and he said to me: 'You will have of this narration (depending on) what your sight conveys to your heart. So if you want (to memorize) the narration, then do so by looking at it while reciting audibly. That will cause your sight and hearing to direct (the narration) into your heart."

A beneficial tip I would like to add: before going to sleep, be sure to read the Hadith you would like to memorize vociferously multiple times without mistakes. The intent here is to simply read fluently. Once you wake up in the morning, the text will become easy to memorize إن شاء الله.

Repeating From The Heart

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله related18:

'Alqamah رحمه الله stated,

"Extend your mentioning of Hadith."

said, رحمه الله said,

"Make the Hadith (of the Prophet (34)) the discussion in your souls and the thoughts of your hearts which you have memorized."

Muhammad b. al-Qāsim b. Khallād رحصه الله said, "It was said: 'Safeguarding what is already in a person's chest is more essential than (memorizing something new) in one's book. A letter you have memorized in your heart is more beneficial than a thousand Hadith in your book."

Ahmad b. Yahya رحمه الله said, "It was said to al-Asma'ī رحمه الله: 'How do did you memorize when your companions have forgot?' He replied: 'I studied (reviewed) whilst they abandoned (that)."

¹⁸ "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwi": (1805-1809).

Revising Hadith With The General Folk

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله related¹⁹:

Ishāq b. Rāhawayh رحمه الله said, "I asked Wakī' رحمه الله about a person who seeks knowledge and from his intentions is to revise and convey it to others, or something along the likes, is there anything wrong with that? So he said, 'No my nephew, Sufyān رحسمه الله narrated to us that Habīb b. Abī Thābit رحمه الله said,

"We started to seek this knowledge while not having any intentions, then the intentions and actions came after."

Abu Sa'īd رحمه الله said,

"Relay Hadith for certainly doing so incites more Hadith (to narrate, memorize and recall)."

'Alqamah محمه الله said,

"Review Hadith with each other for certainly giving life to it is through mentioning it."

Ibrahīm an-Nakha'ī حمه الله said,

¹⁹ "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwi":(1811-1816).

"Whoever is delighted with memorizing Hadith, then let him narrate it, even if he must do so to those who have no desire for it. If he carries that out, the Hadith will become like a book in his chest.²⁰"

Ibrahīm an-Nakha'ī رحمه الله said,

"Mention Hadith to both those who desire (to hear it) and those who do not. (Do this) until you have repeated it often for memorization, then you will memorize it as if it is in front you."

Ibn Shihāb رحمه الله said that he would hear knowledge from 'Urwah رحمه الله and others. He would then goto a servant-girl of his who was sleeping and wake her up saying, "Listen (to this): 'So and so narrated such and such... (he read chains of hadith)". She said, "What do I have to do with this Hadith?" He replied, "I certainly know you would not benefit from this, however, you've already heard it and I (simply) wanted to revise it."

²⁰ Meaning, and Allah knows best, it will be firmly established in his memory and he will be able to recite it as if he is reading from a book.

Revising Hadith With Your Peers

al-Khatīb al-Baghdādi رحمه الله related²¹:

Muslim b. al-Batīn رحمه الله said, "I saw Abu Yahya al-ʿAraj حمه الله - who was knowledgeable of the Hadith of Ibn Abbas رضي الله عنهما - gather with Saʾīd b. Jubayr نحمه الله masjid and they were reviewing Ibn Abbas' Hadith together."

Yazīd b. Abi Ziyād رحسمه الله said, "Ibn Abī Laylā and Abdullah b. Shaddād met and reviewed Hadith together. I then heard one say to the other,

'May Allah have mercy on you, for perhaps you have revived a Hadith in my chest that vanished."

Sa'īd b. Abdil-'Aziz رحمه الله would admonish al-Awzā'ī's companions رحمه الله saying,

"What is the matter with you all that you do not gather? What is the matter with you all that you do not review together?"

al-Khalīl b. Ahmad رحمه الله said,

"Review your knowledge and you will remember that which you possess, and you will also benefit from that which you did not know previously."

Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi قدس الله روحه said in قدس الله وعلم إلى طريق فتح (lines 14, 15):

²¹ "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwi": (1823-1826).

فَإِنَّ ذَا يَحْظَى بِفَتْحِ الْبَابِ ... مِنْ رَبِّهِ الْكَاشِفِ لِلْحِجَابِ

"...And then memorizing what he wrote and revising it, with his esteemed peers of sound guidance.

That is the person who will have the gates opened for him,

by his Lord, who removes all barriers."

10 Personal Advices on Memorizing Hadith

These are ten advices and tips based on my experiences with memorizing. I've ensured to include points that were not previously mentioned. Although these suggestions are targeted to those with a desire to memorize Hadith, it can be applied to committing anything to memory اِن شاء الله I pray the reader will venture to implement the following and find it to be beneficial.

"And whoever hasn't experimented for themselves will not know its value,

Therefore attempt for yourself and you'll attest to what we have mentioned."22

1. The Quran.

Allah Almighty described His Book as being "Mubārak" (containing consistent blessings that increase and its "barakah" spills over onto other affairs),

"And this 'Quran' is a blessed reminder which We have revealed." (21:50)

Having a consistent daily connection with the Quran has a magnificent impact on how much barakah you will experience in your time and efforts when memorizing Hadith.

Ad-Diyā al-Maqdisi said, "al-'Imād al-Maqdisi advised me:

"Be plentiful in your recital of the Quran and never abandon it; for it will certainly facilitate that which you are searching depending on how much you recite."²³

Abbās b. Abdil-Dāyim narrated the same statement from his scholar and added,

²² This couplet was mentioned by Imam as-San'āni رحمه الله in his poem about Hajj entitled: "ذكرى الحج وبركاته".

²³ Dhayl Tabāqāt al-Hanābilah (3/205).

"I saw that (to be true) and I experienced that many times. Whenever I read (from the Quran) profusely, listening and writing down many Hadith became easy for me. And (I noticed) whenever I did not read the Quran (often), listening and writing down many Hadith was not facilitated for me."²⁴

This is one of the greatest tips.

2. Less is more.

The Messenger of Allah said,

"Select actions you are capable of doing." (Muslim)

And he said in another narration,

"The acts most beloved actions to Allah are those which are done continuously, even if they are few." (Bukhari and Muslim)

said, رحمه الله said,

"Whoever seeks Hadith all in one go will have it leave him in one go. Knowledge is only obtained by taking one or two Hadith at a time." ²⁵

al-Khatīb al-Baghadādī رحمه الله wrote,

²⁴ "Dhayl Tabāqāt al-Hanābilah": (2/98).

²⁵ "al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwī": (438).

"It is necessary for the learner to have compassion (for himself) by not overburdening his soul more than its capacity. He should limit himself to learning (the amount that) will allow him to retain its memorization and will become firmly rooted in his heart."²⁶

Shaykh Muhammad b. 'Alī b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحسمهم الله would advise memorizing only **three Hadith** per day.

Shaykh Āmir Bahjat حفظه الله says:



"Take less and repeat more."

Everyone's capabilities differ from the other, so know what is sufficient for yourself and stick to it.

3. Memorize with understanding.

I've found one of the best ways to help in memorizing Hadith is to understand its meaning. It doesn't hurt to take 5 to 10 minutes out to read the explanation of what you're memorizing for that day. Here are some guidelines when selecting an explanation:

- A. Search for the best explanation recommended by scholars and specialists.
- B. Attempt to find the shortest explanation possible from a reputable scholar. If the explanation is lengthy, it will distract you from memorizing.
- C. If there are any obscure wordings, known as "Gharīb al-Hadith", then the explanation should focus on clarifying its definition while also providing a general concise understanding of the Hadith as a whole. If not too burdensome for the memorizer, the explanation should also include a "Benefits Derived From The Hadith" section.

After you've completed your memorization of the Hadith text and developed a basic understanding from this initial explanation, that's when you can move on to more extensive works.

²⁶ "al-Faqīh wal-Mutafaqqih والمتفقه والمتفقة: (879).

Many of my teachers suggest that before you attend a class or open an explanation, try to test your understanding of the Hadith first. After that, compare your deductions with a scholar's explanation. I've found this tip to be beneficial in the retention of the Hadith.

4. Repeat and review often.

Allah described only the Quran, the foundation for all knowledge, as being "easy to remember",

"And We have certainly made the Quran easy to remember. So is there anyone who will be mindful?" (54:22)

However, the Prophet said,

"Be committed to the Quran. By the One in whose hand is my soul, it can leave you faster than a camel from its reins." (Bukhari and Muslim)

If the Quran is easy to remember - yet can still leave faster than "a camel from its reins" - then what about memorizing and preserving other types of knowledge? This shows the importance of constant repetition and revision.

Shaykh Muhammad b. 'Alī b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحمهم الله would say:

"Haven't you seen the rope, with its repeated tugging,

leaving marks on a solid boulder & eventually break?"

Meaning, constantly repeat and you will obtain that which you seek.

Shaykh Āmir Bahjat حفظه الله says:

مَا تُكرر تُقرر

"What is repeated often will be firmly established."

Our scholars relay to us that some would repeat their portion 100 times from memory before moving onto memorizing something new.²⁷

There is a famous saying that goes,

"Memorizing two lines is better than writing two tomes,

and better than that is revision between two."

There are two notable lines of poetry recited by the people of knowledge:

"Whoever acquires knowledge and reviews,

both his worldly affairs and Hereafter are rectified.

So constantly review knowledge,

as giving life to knowledge is through revision."28

Revision also includes constant gazing at the Hadith. Imam Bukhari سحمه الله was asked if there was a medicine for memorizing, and he replied,

²⁷ Shaykh Nabeel as-Sindī وفقه الله added that dividing your revision of the same text into two+ parts in one day is more beneficial than reciting it all in one sitting. For example, instead of repeating 100 times in one sitting, you should recite 50 times in the morning and 50 times in the evening. May Allah reward the Shaykh with good for sharing this tip.

²⁸ at-Tha'ālaby attributes these lines to al-Hāfidh Abul Hajjāj al-Mizzi رحمه الله . Refer to: منتخب الأسانيد في وصل in its manuscript form found in al-Masjid al-Haram's library, page no. 29.

"I do not know anything more beneficial for memorizing than an intense desire (memorize) and constant looking (at the desired text)."29

With Allah's assistance, constant revision and looking at the text will help to cement that knowledge into your memory. Also be sure to review from the same copy you memorized from and never abandon it.

5. Memorize with a present heart, attentive ear and in areas without distractions.

Allah Almighty said,

"Surely in this is a reminder for whoever has a 'mindful' heart and lends an attentive ear." (50:37)

al-Hasan al-Basrī رحمه الله said about this verse,

"Listen while your heart is present. Whenever the heart is present it will certainly understand what is being said. (However,) if the heart is absent, then it will not understand what is being said."30

al-Awzā'ī رحمه الله said,

"Excellent attentive listening is the scholar of Hadith's strength."31

To assist yourself in having a present heart, here are few things you should capitalize on:

²⁹ "Hudā as-Sāri": (488).

^{30 &}quot;al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwī": (432).

^{31 &}quot;al-Jāmi' li-Akhlāq ar-Rāwī": (320).

A. Memorize when you have just woken up and on an empty stomach; this is when your mind is the clearest.

There are selected times in the day which are considered to be optimal for memorization. These times are mentioned by Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحمهم الله in poetry³²:

"And the best times for memorizing is: (1.) the early morning (before Fajr), then (2.) midday after settling down³³, then (3.) early morning (after Fajr).

Night is more beneficial than the morning, and (being in a state of) hunger is most effective."

Imam ash-Shāfi'ī رحمه الله said,

"I have not eaten to my full for 16 years because doing so: causes the body to become heavier and sluggish, hardens the heart, removes insight, brings about sleepiness, and weakens its companion from performing acts of devotion." 34

B. Abandon noisy areas.

If you have the choice, avoid places where there are distractions and excessive bothersome noises (like car horns, sirens, etc.). I say "excessive bothersome noise" because for some, places where there is consistent background noise isn't an issue e.g., Masjid Haram. Some people prefer to study with background noise and find comfort in that. To each their own.

³² Notice that these selected times coincide with when a person wakes up from a long sleep or a nap.

³³ Meaning, after the siesta (midday nap) that occurs after Dhuhr Salah.

³⁴ "Ādāb ash-Shāfi'ī wa Manāqibuhu ": "آداب الشافعي ومناقبه": (78).

Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحمه الله said,

"The most preferable places (to memorize) are (secluded) rooms,

Then places that are furthest away from distractions.

Avoid memorizing near plants, rivers, or near vegetation,

Since these things will preoccupy the heart from being present and empty."

When you're memorizing, you'll notice many new ideas and thoughts will pop into your head. You will recall an issue of knowledge or suddenly develop a burning desire to read X book. This is from Shaytān's plots to distract and busy you with what is less beneficial. Be disciplined, seek refuge in Allah, and focus completely on the task at hand. After you've finished your allotted time for memorizing, then you can address those other thoughts.

Additional Helpful Tips:

- Remove all devices and books from your peripheral vision at the time of memorizing.
- Record yourself and have it playing in the background, or listen to someone's recital, as you are completing your daily tasks.

6. Schedule your time and write down your goals.

Create a block schedule of what you will be studying and when. Post it somewhere in your room where you'll see it daily.

Additionally, plan out: what you are memorizing, how much of it daily, and when you plan to finish. When you write this down, it's an encouragement to hold yourself accountable. As you progress, you will become even more motivated to finish باإذن الله.

7. Time yourself.

As you are memorizing, put a timer on. I find that the pressure helps to focus better and complete the task in its allotted time. Having a deadline of when you will recite that portion to someone also helps.

8. Write it down.

He said, 'O Messenger of Allah! I listen to your Hadith and I am amazed but I can not remember them.' The Messenger of Allah (is reported to have) said,

'Help yourself with your right hand' and he motioned with his hand as if writing."

al-Mubārakfūrī رحصه الله explained, "Help yourself with your right hand' meaning: write down what you fear will be forgotten and it will help in your memorization."35

Abdur-Rahmān b. Harmalah رحسه الله said, "I used to have bad memory - a narrator added: 'or I never used to memorize' - so Sa'īd b. al-Musayyib رحسمه الله permitted me to write down (hadith)."36

After you've memorized, try to write the Hadith from memory multiple times. Be sure to have a notebook specifically for this purpose. Test yourself and see if you're able to write the Hadith down 5 times in a row without any mistakes. Once you can do that fairly easily, increase in number.

^{35 &}quot;Tuhfatul Ahwadhi يتحفة الأحوذي: (7/470).

³⁶ "Musannaf ibn Abi Shaybah": (13/461).

9. Preserve your time.

These precious moments in your life will never return, so use your time wisely and be selective in how often you socialize with others. Knowledge is a vast ocean and you need to dedicate all of your time in learning, memorizing, and reviewing.

Remember Allah's statement,

"Allah does not place two hearts in any person's chest." (33:4)

And as the famous saying goes: "Knowledge is something that will not give you even a fraction of itself until you give it your all."

Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحمه الله said,

"And it is imperative for the student to cut off all unnecessary contacts

As you'll see the one who is busied with many affairs separated from knowledge."

Al-Humaydi رحمه الله is reported to have said:

"Lessen meeting others except if it is concerning acquiring knowledge or rectifying a situation."

Other than fulfilling your responsibilities, all of your time should be spent with knowledge. Take advantage of every second. For example, try to memorize one Hadith or piece of a Hadith while you are walking or driving to the masjid, then review it as you're heading back home. Try to memorize between the Adhān and Iqāmah. Try to memorize as you're heading to work or to school, or during your lunch break or between classes. When you utilize the little free time you do possess, you will notice that Allah will grant you more time. Whenever you meet someone, use it as an opportunity to review a Hadith or two.

10. Abundant supplication.

Know that you will never achieve your goals except with Allah's help and permission. Allah Almighty said,

"But you cannot will 'to do so', except by the Will of Allah, the Lord of all worlds." (81:29)

Recognize this and constantly beg Him for success. He said,

"Your Lord has proclaimed, 'Call upon Me, I will respond to you. Surely those who are too proud to worship Me will enter Hell, fully humiliated." (40:60)

"When My servants ask you 'O Prophet' about Me: I am truly near. I respond to one's prayer when they call upon Me. So let them respond 'with obedience' to Me and believe in Me, perhaps they will be guided 'to the Right Way'." (2:186)

The Prophet said:

"The servant will continue to have his supplications answered as long as he does not ask for sin or cutting family ties and he is not impatient."

They said, "O Messenger of Allah, what is its impatience?"

The Prophet 🐉 said,

"He says: I have supplicated again and again, but I have not seen an answer. He becomes frustrated with that and gives up supplicating." (Muslim)

Abu ad-Dardā رضىي الله عنه said,

"Be assiduous (or diligent) in supplication, as he who frequently knocks on the door will soon have it opened."37

تِلْكَ عَشَىرَةٌ كَامِلَةٌ

³⁷ "Musannaf ibn Abi Shaybah": (29175).

Recommended Supplications For Beneficial Knowledge

Allah Almighty commanded,

"...and pray, 'My Lord! Increase me in knowledge." (20:114)

The Messenger of Allah said,

"Ask Allah for beneficial knowledge and seek refuge in Allah from knowledge without benefit." (Ibn Majah³⁸)

Abu Hurayrah رضىي الله عنه said, "The Messenger of Allah 🐉 would supplicate,

'O Allah, I seek refuge in you against four things: from knowledge that does not benefit, from a heart without reverence, from an ego that is never satisfied, and from a supplication that is unanswered." (Abu Dawud)³⁹

Abu Hurayrah رضىي الله عنه said, "The Messenger of Allah 🌉 said,

"O Allah, benefit me with what you have taught me, teach me what will benefit me, and increase my knowledge. All praise is due to Allah in every circumstance and I seek refuge in Allah from the condition of the people of the Hellfire." (al-Hākim⁴⁰)

³⁸ Graded "Hasan" by al-Albānī رحمه الله in "Sahih ibn Majah": (3114).

³⁹ Graded "Sahih" by al-Albānī رحمه الله in "Sahih Abi Dawud": (1548).

⁴⁰ al-Hākim said, "'Sahih' based on (Imam) Muslim's conditions (for accepting hadith)" (1/510), adh-Dhahabi agreed with this ruling in تلخيص الذهبي and al-Albāni agreed (refer to: سلسلة الأحاديث الصحيحة: [3151]). May Allah have mercy on them all and certainly Allah knows best.

Umm Salama رضي الله عنها said, "The Messenger of Allah ﷺ used to say in supplication after completing the morning prayer,

'O Allah, I implore You for beneficial knowledge, good Halal provision, and accepted actions." (Ibn Majah⁴¹)

Whenever an affair became difficult for the Prophet it is reported that he would say,

"O Allah, there is no ease except in that which You have made easy, and You make the difficulty, if You wish, easy."42 (Ibn Hibban)

⁴¹ Graded "Sahih" by al-Albānī رحمه الله in "Sahih ibn Majah": (925).

⁴² Graded "Sahih" by ibn Hajr (۱۱۹/٤ : السلسلة الصحيحة) and al-Albānī (۹۷۰ (السلسلة الصحيحة) and al-Albānī (۹۷۰ نتائج الأفكار في تخريج أحاديث الأذكار) may Allah have mercy on both of them.

Closing

I end this manual with a short poem composed by our late Shaykh Muhammad b. Ali b. Ādam al-Ityūbi رحصهم الله entitled: "Directing the Student of Hadith on How to Have its Gates Opened إرشاد طالب علم الحديث إلى طريق فتح بابه and translated by Aboo Shaybah"

The Shaykh رحمه الله said:

[1] My dear one, you must know that \ when it comes to this discipline, it is imperative for you to gain proficiency in it

[2] by regularly attending the gatherings of those who have preserved its knowledge, \
remaining respectful towards them without any disdain;

[3] memorizing, understanding, always observing taqwaa, \ and maintaining humility towards every Muslim;

[4] revising with comprehension along with others of sound guidance, \ and avoiding individuals who are foolish and destructive.

[5] If you find none to revise with, then you must continue \ poring over the statements of the well-versed scholars.

[6] Indeed, anyone who has been blessed to peruse \ their words, with both memorization and comprehension,

[7] shall certainly have the gates opened for him \ by his Lord, who removes all barriers.

[8] O Allaah, we implore You alone to enable us \ to achieve our aspirations in this expansive field.⁴³

And Allah knows best.

⁴³ Source: https://sites.google.com/view/qaryah/home/TwoPoems?authuser=0.

حمدا على جمعه ... راجيا تمام نفعه شكرا لمن جل وعلا ... على ما أولى فنعم المولى ثم صلاته سرمدا ... كذا سلامه مسردا على النبي الهادي ... محمد خير العباد وعلى صحبه الأوتاد ... وآله أولي الرشاد وتابعيهم بإحسان ... إلى يوم الجمع والميزان